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Introduction to “How To” Series


With this issue of the PIABA Bar Quarterly, The Practitioner’s Corner begins a “How To” series on causes of action. Knowing the elements of common securities arbitration causes of action allows practitioners to improve their ability to evaluate the chance of success; draft Statements of Claim; respond to motions to dismiss; know the documents to ask for in discovery; and, be in a stronger position to argue the case in mediation or simplify the issues for arbitrators.  


While most securities arbitration cases – like life – are not limited to a single issue, each usually has a predominant allegation of wrongdoing. In the first of this series, the focus is on unauthorized trading. Subsequent articles will examine unsuitability, excessive trading, misrepresentations and omissions, selling away, breach of fiduciary duty and failure to supervise.

The Basics
Unauthorized trading occurred when trades were executed in a customer's account without obtaining approval beforehand, either orally or by written discretionary authority granted to the broker or to a third-party. One of the challenges for customer attorneys in proving that unauthorized trading took place is posed by the customer's receipt of confirmations and monthly account statements. The ratification defense will be raised by defense counsel and the customer's attorney will have to explain why his client did not promptly complain to the broker or firm after receiving those documents. In that instance, the c customer’s sophistication and his or her reliance on the broker's representations may be determinative of success.

Use of Confirmations to Thwart Unauthorized-Trading Claims

In Smith Barney, Harris, Upham & Co. v. Amirarjomana, 201 N.Y.L.J. 55, at 24, col. 2 (N.Y. Sup. Ct., IA Part 16, J. Fingerhood, March 23, 1989) , the brokerage firm was granted summary judgment by the court against a customer who incurred a debit balance after the October 1987 stock market crash. The customer had alleged that unauthorized trading took place in his account. Based on the receipt of a trade confirmation for the allegedly unauthorized stock purchase – which, in small print on the reverse side, required the customer to object within ten days if he disputed the trade - the court stated:

A contract for the sale of securities is enforceable if it meets the requirements of UCC 8-319(c), which provides:

(c) within a reasonable time a writing in confirmation of the sale or purchase and sufficient against the sender under paragraph (a) has been received by the party against whom enforcement is sought and he has failed to send written objection to its contents within 10 days after its receipt.

Under New York law, a confirmation of sale which has been sent in the regular course of business is presumed to have been received.

Since ratification, waiver and estoppel are equitable defenses, customer attorneys are quick to remind arbitrators that those who seek equity (i.e., the brokerage firm respondent) must do equity. That is, the broker or firm which assert the defenses of ratification, estoppel or waiver must not have ”unclean hands” themselves. Proof of a broker's fraudulent conduct tends to vitiate the ratification defense in arbitration cases, especially if the so-called ratification was not a clear indication that the customer intended to adopt the broker's actions.

Case Law on Unauthorized Trading Cases
Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act prohibits a person, in connection with the purchase or sale of a security, to use or employ any manipulative or deceptive devise in contravention of the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission (12 U.S.C. §78j(b)). Rule 10b-5, promulgated as a result of that section, makes it unlawful for any person, in connection with the purchase or sale of any security, to use any means of interstate commerce, the mails or any national securities exchange, to: employ any device, scheme or artifice to defraud; to make any untrue statement of material fact; or, to engage in any act which operates or would operate as a fraud or deceit on any person (17 C.F.R. §240.10b-5). 

 When does unauthorized trading amount to a violation of Rule 10b-5? 

The federal courts have held that unauthorized trading is not actionable without an accompanying misrepresentation or non-disclosure. Rowe v. Morgan Stanley Dean Witter, 191 F.R.D. 398 (D.C.N.J. 1999); Arioli v. Prudential-Bache Sec., Inc., 792 F. Supp. 1050, at 1062 (E.D.Mi. 1992), Pross v. Baird, Patrick & Co., Inc., 585 F.Supp. 1456 (S.D.N.Y. 1984); Bischoff v. G.K. Scott & Co., Inc., 687 F.Supp. 746 (E.D.N.Y. 1986). How the courts go about finding that accompanying wrongdoing – misrepresentation or omission – sometimes appears to stretch the law to fit the facts and right a perceived wrong.

In Cruse v. Equitable Securities of New York, Inc., 678 F. Supp. 1023 (S.D.N.Y. 1987), this author represented William T. Cruse in a securities fraud litigation in which we alleged unsuitable, excessive and unauthorized trading. Mr. Cruse sought damages for violations of the federal securities laws, the Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organization Act (“RICO”), common law fraud and breach of fiduciary duty. Defendants, a small NASD firm and its 22 year old broker, moved for an Order dismissing the complaint pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure for failure to state a claim upon which relief could be granted. The court ruled that affirmative misrepresentations did not have to be alleged in an unauthorized trading case; it was sufficient that the customer alleged material omissions: that the broker traded in the account without first obtaining the customer’s authority, without telling him beforehand – thereby omitting that material fact. 

In Rivera v. Clark Melvin Securities Corp., 59 F.Supp.2d 280 (D. Puerto Rico 1999), the court came to the same conclusion: “A broker’s failure to inform an investor of transactions made on his or her account is itself a material omission, and, in fact, ‘no omission could be more material than that’”, citing Village of Arlington Heights v. Poder, 712 F.Supp. 680, 683 (N.D. Ill. 1989). 

Rule 10b-5 cases also require proof of detrimental reliance by the customer. How is that element met in unauthorized trading cases? In Cruise, with respect to the requirement the a plaintiff must have relied on the misrepresentation or omission to his or her detriment, the court quoted Affiliated UTE Citizens v. United States, 406 U.S.128, at153-154, 92 S.Ct. 1456, at 1472 (1972), where the U.S. Supreme Court stated that:

Positive proof of reliance is not a prerequisite to recovery. All that is necessary is that the facts withheld be material in the sense that a reasonable investor might have considered them important in making the decision…This obligation to disclose and this withholding of material fact establish the requisite element of causation in fact. 

 Mr. Cruse’s case proceeded to trial, resulting in a substantial jury verdict on all of his causes of action. For other cases that cite Cruse, see Rowe v. Morgan Stanley Dean Witter, 191 F.R.D. 398 (D.C.N.J. 1999) and Caiola v. Citibank, N.A., New York, 295 F.2d 312 (2d Cir. 2002)

Rule 10b-5 also requires a plaintiff to prove facts showing an intent on the part of the broker to defraud the customer or a willful and reckless disregard of the customer’s best interests, otherwise referred to as “scienter.”  Interestingly enough, even when unauthorized trading took place, such misconduct may not rise to a 10b-5 violation when a broker can prove that he made the trades “in order to protect an account from extreme losses.” Rivera v. Clark Melvin Securities Corp., 59 F. Supp.2d 280 (1999).

 In Messer v. E.F. Hutton & Co., 847 F.2d 673, at 679 (11th Cir. 1998), the court ruled that the broker’s acts involved a “reasonable decision well within the bounds of accepted industry practice.” The Rivera court, citing Brophy v. Redivo, 725 F.2d 1218, at 1221, also noted that all of the elements of 10b-5 have not been met “when the investor did not specifically prohibit a trade, there were no misrepresentations by the broker, and the trades resulted in a profit to the investor.”

Broker’s Obligation to Advise Customer of Trade

In Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith, Inc. v. Cheng, 901 F.2d 1124 (Ct. App. D.C. 1990), the Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia Circuit concluded that a broker's duty to a customer - under the basic principles of  agency law, as recognized by the District of Columbia - encompasses the duty to inform the customer of the right to reject unauthorized trades, and that the failure to do so, as a matter of law, constitutes a breach of that duty. Since the customers in this case were not informed of their right to disavow the unauthorized trades, said the Court of Appeals, “there could not have been ratification'' of such trades. “Ratification occurs only,'' said the court, “when the customer, with full knowledge of the facts, manifests his intention to adopt the unauthorized transaction.''

A Guideline

In Patterns of Supervision, published by the New York Stock Exchange, Inc., there is proposed “an effective system for receiving and recording orders.'' It is a five-step procedure that the NYSE recommends a broker should follow when taking an order. Counsel would be well-advised to use this “effective system'' as a guide in the questioning of a broker at a hearing - to either support the broker's actions or to challenge them.

1.      The broker should record the order on an order pad or order ticket while taking the order from the client, retaining a duplicate copy.

2.      The broker should read the written ticket back to the client before entering the ticket, making sure all the information is correct and understood. “Repeat to the client whether the order is ‘buy' or `sell,' the quantity, name of the security, price and any limitation such as an ‘open order' or ‘good thru week' order.” 

3.      Upon the broker's receipt of an execution report, he or she is to match that report with the duplicate copy of the order ticket to be certain that the essentials of the executed order are the same as those of the entered order.

4.      The broker is then to contact the client to report the executed order, making sure to relate the quantity, the name of the security and the price of the security. “If there is any misunderstanding or mistake, it should come to light at this stage and may be resolved quickly.”

5.      On the day following the trade, the broker is to match-up the order report with the confirmation to make sure that the information contained is correct and that it contains the same information as was reported to the client.

The NYSE further recommends, in its Patterns of Supervision, “Even with thorough training and effective procedures, order errors can occur. Good practice suggests that all order errors promptly be reported to the manager for handling in accordance with the organization's procedures. As an aid to managers, some organizations employ at least one qualified individual in the main office order room whose major responsibility is to correct order errors.''

The Prohibition and the Exception to the Rule

New York Stock Exchange Rule 408(a) – (c) provide that: 

(a)      No member, allied member or employee of a member organization shall exercise any discretionary power in any customer's account or accept orders for an account from a person other than the customer without first obtaining written authorization of the customer.

(b)      No member, allied member or employee of a member organization shall exercise any discretionary power in a customer's account, without first notifying and obtaining the approval of another person delegated under Rule 342(b)(1)[related to supervision] without authority to approve the handling of such accounts. Every order entered on a discretionary basis by a member, allied member or employee of a member organization must be identified as discretionary on the order at the time of entry.
Such discretionary account shall receive frequent appropriate supervisory review by a person delegated such responsibility under Rule 342(b)(1), who is not exercising discretionary authority. A written statement of the supervisory procedures governing such accounts must be maintained.

(c)      No member, allied member or employee of a member organization exercising discretionary power in any customer's account shall (and no member organization shall permit any member, allied member, or employee thereof exercising discretionary power in any customer's account to) effect purchases or sales of securities which are excessive in size or frequency in view of the financial resources of such customer.

Rule 408(d) sets forth an important exception to the rule requiring written trading authorization for discretionary trading. It states that:

The provisions of this rule shall not apply to discretion as to the price at which or the time when an order given by a customer for the purchase or sale of a definite amount of a specified security shall be executed.

Many brokers extend unreasonably the exception to the discretionary trading rule, asserting that they were given “time and price discretion” when, in actuality, they engaged in unauthorized trading or discretionary trading without written authorization. “The time and price exception is often misused,” said Mr. Schulz in PLI’s Securities Arbitration 1994, “not only in the practical world of brokerage transactions, but in arbitration where it has become a favorite defense to unauthorized trading claims. ... The NYSE measures time and price discretion in hours or days, not in weeks. Therefore, a[n alleged] time and price discretion that lasts more than a day or two is questionable and most likely [is] a violation. If a broker wishes to take longer to enter a trade for his client, he has two other options - call the client back or use a Good Till Cancelled (GTC) order ticket.”

How to Prove an Unauthorized Trading Case 

The primary difficulty in these cases is being able to prove a negative - that a conversation did not take place in which the particular trade was authorized. Proving an unauthorized trading case requires counsel to carefully recreate events through the testimony of the customer and the presentation of the following documents: 

(1) Account Documents - Trade confirmations and monthly account statements. Why? They could show how quickly the customer sold any alleged unauthorized purchases or repurchased any unauthorized sales. 

(2) Telephone records of conversations between the broker and the customer. Why? They could show that there was no contact between the customer and the broker at the time of the trades. Cell phones billing statements provide excellent records in these cases since they track local  as well as long distance calls.

(3) Broker Records - The broker's diary, calendar or other logs. Why? 
Like phone records, these documents will show that there was no contact at the time of the trades.

(4) Travel - Airline tickets, hotel accommodations, restaurant receipts, passports. Why? They could show that the customer was traveling and, therefore, was physically unable – because of inaccessibility - to authorize the alleged unauthorized trades on particular days. 

(5) Other Firms - The customer's monthly account statements from other brokerage firms. Why? To show that, for example, a particular stock or bond had never been purchased before in any other account.

(6) Correspondence between the customer and the broker, including e-mails. Why? They might reference the broker's use of “time and price discretion.”

(7) Polygraph examination of the customer. Why? Arbitrators may allow it into evidence and, even if they sustain an objection to its admission, they will probably infer (being human) that the side which sought to introduce it passed the examination (otherwise that party would not have tried to offer it into evidence).

The NASD’s  Discovery Guide and Unauthorized Trading

NASD Notice to Members 99-90 states that arbitrators and parties should consider the documents described in Document Production Lists 1 and 2 as presumptively discoverable in all cases and should also consider discoverable the additional documents described in Lists 3 through 14 for cases alleging specific causes of action. Lists 11 and 12 are for cases in which unauthorized trading is alleged by the customer. 

Arbitrators are advised, in the Guide, that the following documents are presumptively discoverable from brokerage firms and associated persons (brokers) in cases involving allegations of unauthorized trading:

1. Order tickets for the customer’s transactions at issue.

2. Copies of all telephone records, including telephone logs, evidencing telephone contact between the customer and the firm/Associated Person(s).

3. All documents relied upon by the firm/Associated Person(s) to establish that the customer authorized the transactions at issue.

Likewise, the Guide provides that customers who allege that unauthorized trading took place in their account should expect to have to produce to the brokerage firm respondent:

1. Copies of all telephone records, including telephone logs, evidencing telephone contact between the customer and the firm/Associated Person(s).

2. All documents relied upon by the customer to show that the transactions at issue were made without his/her knowledge or consent.

Simplifying Unauthorized Trading Cases


Arbitrators consider the following factors more than any other in their deliberations on unauthorized trading cases. As such, to simplify your presentation – be it on behalf of customers or brokers – focus on these questions:

1. Precedent - Did the customer ever purchase that stock before? If not, the customer is more likely to be believed when he/she alleges that unauthorized trading took place in this “new” security.

2. Complain - How soon after the customer learned of the alleged unauthorized trade did he/she complain? The sooner the better for the customer’s chance of prevailing.

3. Mitigate - How soon after the customer complained did he/she sell the unauthorized purchase or repurchase the unauthorized sale? The sooner the customer mitigated damages, the more likely the arbitrators will conclude that the trade was unauthorized.

4. Pattern - Have other customers made similar allegations against the broker involving the same stock(s)? Since brokers who engage in such conduct are often recidivists, if this is the only complaint of this nature, the broker is more likely to be believed.

5. Accessibility - Where was the customer at the time of the transactions? The more inaccessible the customer, the more likely arbitrators will conclude that the trade was unauthorized. However, in this time of instant accessibility, it is more difficult for customers to prove that they could not have been reached.

And Now, The Other Side of the Story

When a customer alleges that a broker engaged in unauthorized trading, that customer has raised the bar of proof in the minds of the arbitrators, for he or she is not asserting that the broker engaged in negligent or even reckless misconduct. The customer is alleging that the broker deliberately, and without permission, took the customer’s funds, made a purchase and received a commission. The customer is alleging fraud.

Even if it is clear that unauthorized trading took place, the broker still has an opportunity to testify in his/her defense. And that is when “the other side of the story” could torpedo the customer’s case. The broker may explain that he knew the trade (a purchase or a sale) was just what his client would have wanted but that the client was inaccessible, and told the broker (beforehand) that he would be inaccessible. The broker may very well testify that there was a prior conversation in which the customer gave the broker permission to make the purchase or sale if the broker could not reach the customer, as long as the broker believed it to be in the customer’s best interests. 

Therefore, even if telephone records and prior trading history support a claim of unauthorized trading, the customer is not home free. There may be another aspect to the trade that the customer did not share with his attorney. That is the job of defense counsel to bring out, in which case a claim of unauthorized trading may suddenly become one of discretionary trading without receiving written trading authorization. Such misconduct is only a violation of self-regulatory rules and is of greater significance to NASD or NYSE disciplinary hearing officers than to arbitration panels. 

Conclusion

     The goal of a customer’s attorney in unauthorized trading cases is to prove a negative, while the broker’s goal is to prove a positive. The customer must prove that he did not know or should not have known of the trade. The broker must prove – yes, in the real world of securities arbitration, the respondent usually is expected to meet a burden of proof – that either the trading was specifically approved beforehand or that he was given time and price discretion by the customer to enter that order. In either instance, proving or defending an unauthorized trading case is a test of logic and a great deal of preparation.
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�  This article examines the elements of an unauthorized trading cause of action and  does not deal in any detail with the ratification defense. For a discussion of that defense in securities arbitration cases, see §5-12 of Securities Arbitration Procedure Manual (Matthew Bender 2002).





� In “When is an Order an Order? Unauthorized Trading by Securities Brokers” (PLI’s Securities Arbitration 1994), Douglas J. Schulz noted that the order ticket itself provides a guideline for a valid order: (1) the type of trade, such as a buy, sell, short sell; (2) the specific security to be purchased; (3) exactly how many shares/units are to be purchased; (4) the exact price at which the order is to be entered (unless it is a market order); (5) the current price at which the security is trading; and, (6) any special instructions (e.g., limit orders, stop loss, fill or kill, all or nothing, all or none, immediate or cancel).








